
 Agenda-page 1 

 

 
Meeting of the Community Corrections 

Partnership (CCP) and its  

Executive Committee (CCPEC) 
 

 AGENDA 

 
Thursday, November 6, 2014 

10:00 am-12 noon 

San Francisco City Hall, Room 305 

1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place 

San Francisco, CA 94102 

  

Note:  Each member of the public may be allotted no more than 3 minutes to speak on each item.  

 

1. Call to Order and Introductions.  

 

2. Public Comment on Any Item Listed Below as for “Discussion Only.” 

 

3. Review and Adoption of Meeting Minutes of September 11, 2014 (discussion & possible action). 

 

4. Overview of State Budget and Policy Developments (discussion only). 

 

5. Discussion of Attorney General’s Proposed and Board of State and Community Corrections’ Adopted 

Definitions of Recidivism (discussion only). 

 

6. Discussion of the Development of the Three Year Realignment Report and 2015 Realignment Plan 

(discussion and possible action). 

 

7. Update on Community Recidivism Reduction Grant Application (discussion only) 

 

8. Update on Launch of Risk Needs Responsivity Pilot by Leah Rothstein, Research Director, Adult 

Probation Department (discussion only). 

 

9. Discussion of Unmet Needs Among Older Adults in the Criminal Justice System (discussion only). 

 

10. Update on Implementation of Secure Reentry Program Facility Contract with California Department 

of Corrections and Rehabilitation (discussion only).  

 

11. Regular Update on the Implementation of the San Francisco Women’s Community Justice Reform 

Blueprint (discussion only). 

 

12. Roundtable Updates on the Implementation of Public Safety Realignment (AB109) and other 

comments, questions, and requests for future agenda items (discussion only).  

 

13. Public comment on any item listed above, as well as items not listed on the Agenda. 

 

14. Adjournment.  



 Agenda-page 2 

 

 
SUBMITTING WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENT TO THE COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS PARTNERSHIP  

Persons who are unable to attend the public meeting may submit to the Community Corrections Partnership, by the time the 

proceedings begin, written comments regarding the subject of the meeting.  These comments will be made a part of the official 

public record, and brought to the attention of the Community Corrections Partnership.  Written comments should be submitted to: 

Jennifer Scaife, Adult Probation Department, 880 Bryant Street, Room 200, San Francisco, CA 94102, or via email: 

jennifer.scaife@sfgov.org 

 

MEETING MATERIALS  

Copies of agendas, minutes, and explanatory documents are available through the Community Corrections Partnership’s website at 

http://sfgov.org/adultprobation or by calling Jennifer Scaife at (415) 553-1593 during normal business hours.  The material can be 

FAXed or mailed to you upon request. 

 

ACCOMMODATIONS  

To obtain a disability-related modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, to participate in the meeting, 

please contact Jennifer Scaife at jennifer.scaife@sfgov.org or (415) 553-1593 at least two business days before the meeting.  

 

TRANSLATION  

Interpreters for languages other than English are available on request. Sign language interpreters are also available on request. For 

either accommodation, please contact Jennifer Scaife at jennifer.scaife@sfgov.org or (415) 553-1593 at least two business days 

before the meeting. 

 

CHEMICAL SENSITIVITIES 

To assist the City in its efforts to accommodate persons with severe allergies, environmental illness, multiple chemical sensitivity or 

related disabilities, attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive to various chemical based 

products. Please help the City accommodate these individuals. 

 

KNOW YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE SUNSHINE ORDINANCE (Chapter 67 of the San Francisco Administrative Code) 

Government's duty is to serve the public, reaching its decisions in full view of the public. Commissions, boards, councils and other 

agencies of the City and County exist to conduct the people's business. This ordinance assures that deliberations are conducted 

before the people and that City operations are open to the people's review. Copies of the Sunshine Ordinance can be obtained from 

the Clerk of the Sunshine Task Force, the San Francisco Public Library, and on the City's web site at: www.sfgov.org/sunshine.  

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION ON YOUR RIGHTS UNDER THE SUNSHINE ORDINANCE OR TO REPORT A VIOLATION 

OF THE ORDINANCE, CONTACT THE SUNSHINE ORDINANCE TASK FORCE: 

Administrator 

Sunshine Ordinance Task Force 

City Hall, Room 244 

1 Dr. Carlton B. Goodlett Place,  

San Francisco, CA 94102-4683.  

Telephone: (415) 554-7724 

E-Mail: soft@sfgov.org   

 

CELL PHONES 

The ringing of and use of cell phones, pagers and similar sound-producing electronic devices are prohibited at this meeting. Please 

be advised that the Co-Chairs may order the removal from the meeting room of any person(s) responsible for the ringing or use of a 

cell phone, pager, or other similar sound-producing electronic devices. 

 

LOBBYIST ORDINANCE 

 

Individuals and entities that influence or attempt to influence local legislative or administrative action may be required by San 

Francisco Lobbyist Ordinance (SF Campaign and Governmental Conduct Code sections 2.100-2.160) to register and report lobbying 

activity.  For more information about the Lobbyist Ordinance, please contact the Ethics Commission at 30 Van Ness Avenue, Suite 

3900, San Francisco CA 94102, telephone (415) 581-2300, FAX (415) 581-2317, and web site http://www.sfgov.org/ethics/ 

http://www.sfgov.org/sunshine
http://www.sfgov.org/ethics/


 City and County of San Francisco 

Community Corrections Partnership 

Draft Minutes 

 

 

Minutes of September 11, 2014 

Page 1 

Meeting of the Community Corrections 

Partnership (CCP)  
 

DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Thursday, September 11, 2014 

10:00am 

455 Golden Gate Ave, Auditorium 

San Francisco, CA 

  

Note:  Each member of the public may be allotted no more than 3 minutes to speak on each item.  

 

Chief Wendy Still (Chair), Cristine DeBerry (for District Attorney George Gascón), Steve Good, 

Paul Henderson (for Mayor Ed Lee), Ali Riker (for Sheriff Ross Mirkarimi), Simin Shamji (for 

Public Defender Jeff Adachi), Noelle Simmons, Garret Tom (for Chief Gregory Suhr), and Frank 

Williams. 

 

1. Call to Order and Introductions.  

Chief Still called the meeting to order at 10:27am once there was quorum. Chief Still 

welcomed CCP members and interested members of the public. Chief Still asked CCP 

members to introduce themselves.  

 

2. Public Comment on Any Item Listed Below as for “Discussion Only.” 

Chief Still reviewed the agenda and asked for public comment on any of the Agenda items 

listed for Discussion only. There was none. 

3. Review and Adoption of Meeting Minutes of July 24, 2014. 

Chief Still asked members to review the minutes from the July 24, 2014 meeting of the CCP. 

Chief Still asked for comments and called for a motion to adopt the minutes. Paul Henderson 

moved to adopt the minutes. Simin Shamji seconded. The motion passed unanimously at 

10:30am.  

 

4. Discussion and Possible Adoption of Letter of Support of Application to the Board of State 

and Community Corrections for a Grant in the Amount of $250,000 to Fund Community 

Recidivism and Crime Reduction Services Identified by the Community Corrections 

Partnership.  

Chief Still explained that San Francisco has an opportunity to apply for a grant of $250,000 

from the State, via the Board of Supervisors. Specifically, the Budget Act of 2014 (Chapter 

25, Statutes of 2014) allocates $8 million to the Board of State and Community Corrections 

for the Community Recidivism Reduction Grant described in Penal Code section 1233.10 

(Attachment I). She further explained that counties are eligible to receive funds if the Board 

of Supervisors, in collaboration with the county’s Community Corrections Partnership, 

agrees to develop a competitive grant program intended to fund community recidivism and 



 City and County of San Francisco 

Community Corrections Partnership 

Draft Minutes 

 

 

Minutes of September 11, 2014 

Page 2 

crime reduction services. In developing the grant program, the Board of Supervisors, in 

collaboration with the CCP, must establish minimum requirements, funding criteria, grant 

award limits, and procedures for the county to award grants. Each county must notify the 

BSCC of their interest in participating in this grant program by September 30, 2014. 

Chief Still proposed to members that the CCP apply the results of the Risk Needs 

Responsivity (RNR) pilot project, which the San Francisco Probation Department is 

embarking on in partnership with George Mason University this fall, to the competitive grant 

program required by this funding opportunity. She referenced the draft letter for CCP 

members’ review and adoption, which would be included in the application to the BSCC and 

asked for a motion to adopt the letter.  Simin Shamji moved to adopt the letter and Frank 

Williams seconded.  A vote was taken and the motion unanimously passed at 10:37am. 

 

5. Presentation by Leah Rothstein, Research Director at the Adult Probation Department, on the 

Risk Needs Responsivity Pilot Project (discussion only).   

Leah Rothstein explained that the Risk Needs Responsivity (RNR) Project was developed by 

Faye Taxman of George Mason University who is now partnering with the San Francisco 

Adult Probation Department in an effort to inform SFAPD’s service procurement and 

delivery system and further align with client needs.  This project is being sponsored by the 

Bureau of Justice Assistance.  Essentially, the program tool will look at the needs of clients, 

through data collected by the COMPAS assessment tool currently being used by SFAPD.  

Data provided by service providers will be analyzed and the RNR tool will identify areas 

where programs can be improved and provide recommendations for adjustments to the 

current service delivery system.  Because this tool will allow SFAPD to identify areas for 

ongoing quality improvement within contracted providers, SFAPD will be able to adjust 

funding priorities in line with RNR findings.  The ultimate goal of this project will be to 

identify the gaps in services for clients and to fill them with appropriate deliverables. 

 

Frank Williams asked Leah how reliable COMPAS is and how often it is updated for clients.  

She responded that there are several upcoming studies that will examine COMPAS validity 

and inter-rater reliability.  She also assured him that COMPAS assessments are updated 

every 6 months for clients. 

 

6. Discussion of Letter of Interest, Jointly Submitted by the Sheriff’s Department and Adult 

Probation Department, to the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation to 

develop a Community Based Reentry Center.  

Chief Still reminded CCP members that CDCR is under a court order to reduce its prisoner 

population as a result of the Plata and Coleman litigation against the State. In addition, one 

of the provisions of the court order authorizes CDCR to enter into contract with counties to 

transition inmates back to the community up to 365 days prior to their prison release date.   

As a result of this, there is currently a huge push to get inmates out of CDCR custody 365 

days early.  She explained that the possibilities for program design are wide open, including 

locked facilities, step down facilities, transitional housing, and day treatment centers.  

Chief Still directed members to a letter of interest submitted jointly by the Sheriff and Adult 

Probation, proposing to bring both PRCS and parole inmates back to the Reentry Pod in 



 City and County of San Francisco 

Community Corrections Partnership 

Draft Minutes 

 

 

Minutes of September 11, 2014 

Page 3 

County Jail 2 up to 365 days ahead of their release. Furthermore, she explained that APD 

hopes to create a clean and sober transitional housing program for up to 60 individuals at a 

site on 6
th

 Street. The goal of these efforts would be to transition individuals out of custody 

through the Reentry Pod, provide them with transitional supportive housing, and eventually 

transition them to employment opportunities, as well as rental subsidy programs.  She also 

referenced conversations that she had with Mimi Silbert of Delancey Street Foundation about 

the possibility of partnering with her organization to offer slots to SFAPD clients. 

Noelle Simmons inquired about the length of possible stay for clients at this proposed 

transitional housing facility and Chief Still said that it would be up to a year. 

There were no other questions or comments at this point. 

 

7. Formulating Strategic Priorities for Implementation of Comprehensive Criminal Justice 

Reform in San Francisco, and Developing Year Three Realignment Plan and Report.  

Chief Still began by thanking all members who contributed to the drafting of a criminal 

justice master plan framework.  She then introduced Jennifer Scaife, Director of the Reentry 

Division, to walk members through the drafts and discuss the next steps on creating the 

Realignment Plan.   

 

Jennifer began by thanking members for their contributions and acknowledged that the 

current plan is still very much a work in progress.  She reminded the CCP members that the 

initial idea was to partner with Stanford or another institution that has experience in creating 

a master plan for a jurisdiction.  She acknowledged the feedback received from DA’s office, 

indicating that some of the ideas were to add a column “Goals” in order to attract outcomes 

and to add “Precharging” as a point along the process.  This would allow the DA to exercise 

more flexibility and creativity.  Jennifer reiterated the global recommendation to think about 

victims at every point.  It has been suggested that a possible partner document or additional 

columns be added that would run parallel to address victims.   

 

Jennifer then asked Cristine DeBerry from the DA’s office for additional comments. 

Cristine acknowledged that much more work is needed and reminded members of the 

importance of calling out certain populations – victims, juveniles, and the community.  She 

stressed the value of finding ways to engage the community in the public safety challenge 

and need to discover how to motivate them.   

 

Simin Shamji followed by complimenting the draft as a great start.  She stressed the 

importance and need to be explicit about identifying funding resources to each step.  She 

suggested adding a column, “Resource Identification and Funding Sources”. 

 

Chief Still suggested that we look at other universities with expertise that could lend itself in 

helping us through this process. She stated that the MacArthur Foundation is getting ready to 

issue grants to programs whose goal is to reduce reliance on incarceration and create 

alternatives to incarceration. 

 



 City and County of San Francisco 

Community Corrections Partnership 

Draft Minutes 

 

 

Minutes of September 11, 2014 

Page 4 

Noelle Simmons suggested thinking about housing strategies outside of “capital expenses”, 

indicating that there are lower cost interventions that need to be considered.  

  

Jennifer closed by saying that she hopes to continue to expand this conversation during the 

Realignment planning meetings every Friday.  She announced that we received approval 

from BJA for funding for Phase 2 of the JRI and this funding will cover all three strategies. 

 

8. Regular Update on the Implementation of the San Francisco Women’s Community Justice 

Reform Blueprint, with Presentation by Danielle Evans, Director of Women’s Services, 

Center on Juvenile and Criminal Justice. 

Danielle Evans, Director of Women’s Services at CJCJ, gave an overview of Cameo House, 

the APD funded alternative sentencing program.  She explained that Cameo House is trying 

to identify women who are most at risk and screen them for the program and offer intensive 

clinical services, as an alternative to incarceration. She explained that Cameo House is an 

evidence based treatment that provides a highly structured program, including a full time 

therapist, a child advocate, individual and group therapy, and gender responsive curricula.   

In addition, there is daily nutritional programing, recovery groups, and case management, 

with treatment plans aimed at linking women to services which address socioeconomic 

barriers. Danielle reiterated that the overall goal of the program, in partnership with HSA, is 

permanent placement in housing with life skills that will allow participants to be successful. 

Steve Good applauded this program and called for replication so that more parenting women 

may stay with their children in lieu of jail. Cristine DeBerry commented that additional 

programs like Cameo House are needed as alternatives to the jail rebuild. She reiterated the 

importance of rethinking the jail rebuild and challenged CCP members to deliver these 

alternatives to the Mayor and the Board.  

 

9. Roundtable Updates on the Implementation of Public Safety Realignment (AB109) and other 

comments, questions, and requests for future agenda items.  

Chief Still called for requests for future agenda items.  Steve Good suggested a report on the 

Adult Education Consortium findings and Ali Riker requested an update on JRI.  Cristine 

DeBerry would like to ask HSA and DPH to bring numbers on mental health and substance 

abuse services and utilization in hopes of identifying service needs and gaps.  She indicated 

that this should shape the type of locked facility San Francisco will use to replace the current 

jail and noted that these demographics should drive additional facilities.  Frank Williams 

would like to do a presentation focused on the specific needs of the older adult population 

(seniors).  Chief Still followed by stating that we need data prior to the development of a 

master plan.  Finally, Chief Still announced that after five years with San Francisco Adult 

Probation, she will be retiring at the end of 2014. Members noted her extraordinary 

contributions to the shape of community corrections in San Francisco and expressed regret 

about her departure.  

 

10. Public comment on any item listed above, as well as items not listed on the Agenda. 



 City and County of San Francisco 

Community Corrections Partnership 

Draft Minutes 

 

 

Minutes of September 11, 2014 

Page 5 

Chief Still thanked members and the interested public who attended the meeting and invited 

any members of the public to come forward to public comment.  There was no public 

comment. 

 

11. Adjournment.  

Chief Still thanked members and staff and announced that the next meeting would be held on 

Thursday, November 6
th

.  Simin Shamji took this time to thank Chief Still for her work and 

her vision and reiterated that she will be missed.  Simin Shamji motioned and Paul 

Henderson seconded.  The meeting was adjourned at 11:52pm. 

 



City and County of San Francisco 
Community Corrections Partnership 

 

November 6, 2014 
 

2014 State Legislation of Interest to CCP Members 

 
Below is a small selection of bills that were signed by Governor Brown and will have a direct 

impact on Realignment and those affected by Realignment. Most of this legislation will go into 

effect on January 1, 2015. 

 

 

Bill 

Number 

 

Author 

 

Description 

AB 1628 Steve Fox Allows a grandparent to petition for visitation of a child whose 

parents are married but one parent is incarcerated or involuntarily 

institutionalized. 

AB 1650 Reggie Jones-Sawyer Ban the Box for state contractors’ on-site construction jobs. 

AB 1702 Brian Maienschein Prior incarceration cannot be sole reason for disqualification when 

applying for a professional license, unless directly-related. 

AB 2060 Victor Manuel Perez Provides grant money to fund job training for people serving 

supervised release. 

AB 2396 Rob Bonta Prohibits a board within the Department of Consumer Affairs from 

denying a professional license to an applicant based solely on a 

conviction that has been dismissed by the court pursuant to Penal 

Code 1203.4, 1203.4a, or 1203.41. Must show proof of dismissal. 

SB 833 Carol Liu Allows people to stay at county jails for up to 16 hours after their 

release date, in order to be released during safe daytime hours, 

instead of the middle of the night. 

SB 1384 Holly Mitchell Ends the requirement that the Public Health department deny a 

training and examination application and deny, suspend, or revoke a 

CNA certificate if the applicant or certificate holder has been 

convicted of a violation or attempted violation of one or more 

specified crimes. 

https://www.google.com/url?q=http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id%3D201320140AB2060%26search_keywords%3D&sa=D&usg=ALhdy29xjYPmq0u6j_sr_KL3uxNGcPlMJA
https://www.google.com/url?q=http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id%3D201320140AB2396&sa=D&usg=ALhdy29cmvPgIHWOpxkaXBimFHXBQn3ksQ
http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/13-14/bill/sen/sb_0801-0850/sb_833_bill_20140707_chaptered.htm
https://www.google.com/url?q=http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id%3D201320140SB1384&sa=D&usg=ALhdy2-9BW_t4pJ9cMZ9oVySvG4PqDm-aw






















































 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 October 16, 2014 
 
 
 
 
Dear Public Safety Partners, 
 
 California has experienced fundamental changes to its criminal justice system over 
the past three years.  These changes, initiated by Public Safety Realignment in 2012, have 
forced California’s leaders and citizens to confront difficult questions about how our state 
approaches prosecution and incarceration in pursuit of public safety.  
 
 As the chief law enforcement officer of the State of California, I have no greater 
priority than the public safety of our communities.  But to truly ensure public safety, we 
cannot afford to follow outdated criminal justice policies for the sake of tradition.  Rather, 
real public safety requires us to think and act with innovation and data-driven analysis to 
maximize our return on investment for the billions of dollars we spend on criminal justice 
each year. 
 
 As a result of Public Safety Realignment, local law enforcement agencies are 
putting greater resources into programs to reduce recidivism. The California Department 
of Justice is developing initiatives and data sets to make our criminal justice system more 
efficient, effective, and outcome driven. To this end, in November 2013, I launched the 
Department’s Division of Recidivism Reduction and Re-Entry – “DR3” for short – to 
develop best practices throughout California.  
 
 Today, I am pleased to release the results of the first step of one such DR3 
initiative:  the Attorney General’s proposed statewide definition of recidivism in 
California. 
   
 Universally defining recidivism is a fundamentally important issue if we are to be 
smart on crime.  In California, Public Safety Realignment has shifted responsibility for 
incarceration and supervision of many offenders to our local counties.  However, 
California lacks any uniform or standard way to measure the rate of individuals who re-
commit crimes. 



 
October 16, 2014 
Page 2 
 
 
 Although for many years the California Department of Corrections and 
Rehabilitation has set the gold standard in calculating recidivism rates for state prison 
offenders, Public Safety Realignment creates a need for a standard recidivism definition 
that also includes county-level offenders. 
 
 This need, paired with the Department of Justice’s role in collecting and analyzing 
crime data, made developing a standard definition a core priority for DR3. We began 
earlier this year with a comprehensive survey of over 540 law enforcement, corrections, 
and policy stakeholders to assess how stakeholders define and track recidivism across 
jurisdictions and agencies.  We received an impressive response rate from this survey, 
which reinforced the importance of a statewide definition.  The survey indicated the 
following: 
 

 Who tracks recidivism? 
o 60% of respondents reported no definition of recidivism. 
o 34% reported they tracked no data relating to recidivism. 

 
o Who is Law Enforcement tracking to measure recidivism? 

69% of respondents who use a definition of recidivism track offenders who qualify as 
Realignment offenders – that is, offenders who commit non-violent, non-serious, and non-
sexual crimes.  

o Other prevalent population groups include individuals placed on felony probation, 
released felons (regardless of whether they were released from county jail or prison), and 
probation and parole violators. 
 

 What event metrics do Law Enforcement agencies measure?   
o 71% of respondents track re-arrests. 
o 62% of respondents track re-convictions.   
o 77% of those who track re-convictions supplement their records with re-arrest data. 
o 48% track re-incarceration generally. 

 
One of the key takeaways from the survey is the critical need for better data to help 

counties assess the effectiveness of their criminal justice policies and programs. 
 
Based on these results, we drafted a proposed statewide definition in consultation 

with stakeholders, academics, and policy leaders across the state and country.  As a result 
of our research, my office proposes the following statewide definition of recidivism: 

 
 An arrest resulting in a charge within three years of an individual’s release from 
incarceration or placement on supervision for a previous criminal conviction. 
 An “arrest resulting in a charge” is defined as is a felony or misdemeanor arrest and 
booking by a law enforcement agency that results in the filing of a criminal charge in an 
accusatory pleading by a prosecutor or a grand jury, as applicable. 



 
October 16, 2014 
Page 3 
 
 
 Although we believe that this measure provides, on balance, the most accurate 
view of a core variable affecting public safety, there are also supplemental measures that 
should be counted in understanding recidivism – among these are (1) conviction rates; (2) 
the return rate of offenders to incarceration; and (3) the rate of non-technical violations of 
supervision, which are those violations that would otherwise constitute criminal offenses 
were the individual not under supervision (i.e., probation or parole). 
 
 Along with this proposed definition, I am also publicly unveiling a standardized 
tool for counties to track recidivism in their jurisdictions.  The California Recidivism 
Index charts three major indicators of seriousness – offense type, frequency, and timing.  
The Index is a focused and centralized method for policymakers and local authorities to 
design and target programs to areas of need, as well as assess the effectiveness of such 
programs.   
 

Our proposed statewide definition and the new California Recidivism Index 
follows significant consultation with a number of critical stakeholders, including district 
attorneys, sheriffs, police and probation chiefs, the courts, academics, the defense bar, and 
the U.S. Department of Justice’s Bureau of Justice Statistics.  But my proposed statewide 
definition is not the only contribution to this critical policy dialogue.  Criminal justice 
stakeholders across the spectrum have sought to articulate a definition of recidivism.  And 
the Board of State and Community Corrections (“BSCC”) has been tasked by the 
Legislature, through Assembly Bill 1050 (2013), with the duty to develop such a 
definition.  The BSCC’s recidivism definition committee has done incredible work, and I 
expect that they will release a formalized definition in the coming weeks or months.  My 
office is eager to continue collaborating with the BSCC on this important topic.       

 
I view my proposed statewide definition as a continuation, not the end, to the 

conversation about how we define recidivism in California.  I look forward to a robust 
dialogue and working with policymakers and stakeholders on a single, uniform definition 
for our state.    

    Sincerely, 
 
 
 
    KAMALA D. HARRIS 
    Attorney General 



Board of State and Community Corrections 

As provided to Community Corrections Partnership 

 

November 6, 2014 

 

 

Proposed Definition of Recidivism AB 

1050 Executive Steering Committee 

September 2014 

Adult Recidivism Definition 

Recidivism is  def ined as  convict ion of  a  new felony or  misdemeanor  commit ted 

within three years  of  rele ase from custody or  commit ted within three years  of  

placement  on supervis ion for  a  previous cr iminal  convict ion .
1

 

Supplemental Measures 

This  def in i t ion  does  not  prec lude  o ther  measures  of  offender  outcomes .  Such 

measures  may inc lude new ar rest ,  re turn  to  cus tody,  c r iminal  f i l ing ,  v io la t ion  of  

supervis ion ,  and level  of  of fense  ( felony or  misdemeanor) .  

Recidivism Rates 

While the def ini t ion  adopts  a  three -year  s tandard  measurement  per iod ,  rates  may 

also be measured ove r  other  t ime intervals  such as  one ,  two,  or  f ive  years .  

1 “Committed” refers to the date of offense, not the date of conviction. 



 
______________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
CPOC Unified Recidivism Measure   

 (Adopted May 2012) 
 
 
Currently the 58 counties in California have agreed upon a universal definition of recidivism for 
both adult and juvenile probationers.  The definition below allows counties to describe one level 
of success for probationers while they are under supervision. 
 

Recidivism Definition: A subsequent criminal adjudication/conviction while on 
probation supervision. 
 

Agreement with this definition does not prevent a county from tracking detailed offender 
information on other recidivism measures such as subsequent arrests and probation violations. 
From this universal definition adopted by CPOC in July 2011, the measurement definition below 
is proposed as a starting point to track recidivism for adults and juvenile populations. 
 

Adult Measurement Definition:  Of those terminated or closed from all adult grants of 
probation in a given time period, provide a count of how many had new law convictions 
during their time under supervision. 
 
Juvenile Measurement Definition:  Of those terminated or closed from a juvenile grant 
of probation in a given time period, provide a count of how many had new true findings / 
law convictions during their time under supervision. 
 

In creating a measurement method, it is important to start with a population that is comparable 
across counties and that will minimize the impact of county differences in case processing and 
probation practices.  Termination (case closure) provides a straightforward definition that allows 
for the creation of a consistent population of those “exiting” probation.   

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 
1415 L Street, Suite 1000 Sacramento, CA 95814 

(916) 447-2762 
cpoc@cpoc.org 

 
 

mailto:cpoc@cpoc.org


City and County of San Francisco 
Community Corrections Partnership 

 

November 6, 2014` 
 

Realignment Implementation Plan 2014/15 and Three-Year 

Realignment Report 

Draft Schedule/Process 
 

 

October 24, 2014 Leah Rothstein, Research Director, APD, starts to compile two-year data for 

chart updates 

 

November 5 Draft schedule and last year’s outline sent to Realignment Working Group 

for input and revision, including decisions on which charts to include in final 

report 

 

November 6 Community Corrections Partnership Meeting 

Outline/overview of the Plan/Report presented to the CCP for information 

and discussion 

 

November 14 Meeting of Realignment Working Group to discuss progress and choose 

charts for the new report 

 

November 24 Partners return completed drafts of narrative discussion of Year 3 and plans 

for Year 4 

 

November 26 Leah Rothstein completes charts and Reentry Division staff compile report 

 

December 19 Completed report sent to partners for revisions/edits 

 

January 9, 2015 Revised/edited report received from partners 

 

January 13 Final report sent to graphic designer 

 

January 31 Final Three Year Report released 

 

 



Realignment Implementation Plan 2014/15 and Year Three Realignment Report 
Draft Outline 

 

November 6, 2014 
Page 1 
 

Realignment Implementation Plan 2014/15 and Year Three 

Realignment Report 

Draft Outline – November 2014 
 

Plan/Report Outline 

(for Department sections, bullet points are taken 

from Realignment Two-Year Report—Responses 

to AB109 Implementation.) 

Charts and Tables 

(to be determined collaboratively) 

1.  Introduction – overview of plan/report 

format 

 

2. Local Planning and Oversight 
a. CCP/CCPEC 

b. Reentry Council 

c. Sentencing Commission 

 

3. Impacted Populations  

a. Impacted populations over time 

b. Demographics and needs 

1. Risk Levels 

2. Criminal History 

3. Criminogenic needs 

 

4. Realignment Strategies 

a. Guiding Principles 

b. Emerging Best Practices 

c. Ongoing Challenges  

 

5. Collaborative Initiatives—Looking 

Ahead 

a. Medi-Cal Enrollment in SF County Jail 

and CASC 

b. Secure Reentry Program Facility 

contract between CDCR and Sheriff’s 

Department 

c. Community Reentry Program 

opportunity with CDCR and Delancey 

Street 

d.   

e.   

f.   

 

6. APD Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. Department-wide reforms – EBP, staff 

training, risk-based supervision 

b. COMPAS 

c. Victim/Survivor Services 

d. 5 Keys 

e. T4C 

 



Realignment Implementation Plan 2014/15 and Year Three Realignment Report 
Draft Outline 

 

November 6, 2014 
Page 2 
 

f. Policy and Procedures update 

g. SOARING2 

h. New divisions and specialized 

caseloads 

i. Pre-release officers 

j. Reentry Division 

k. CASC 

7. DA Office Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. Alternative Sentencing Planner 

b. Early Resolution Program 

c. Victim Services 

d. Sentencing Commission 

e. Staff Capacity and Trainings 

f. Chief Information Officer/data 

collection 

 

8. Public Defender Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. Realignment Team 

b. Criminal Justice Specialist 

c. Clean Slate 

d. Advocate use of alternative sentences 

e. Expand eligibility for collaborative 

courts 

f. Pre-trial reform 

 

9. Sheriff Department Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. In Custody Programs 

b. COMPAS Assessment 

c. Communication with Parole 

d. Victim Notification 

e. Addressing service gaps 

 

10. Department of Public Health Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. AB 109 Case Management Unit 

 

11. Superior Court Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

 



Realignment Implementation Plan 2014/15 and Year Three Realignment Report 
Draft Outline 

 

November 6, 2014 
Page 3 
 

materials. 

 

a. Education 

b. Training 

c. Information Technology 

d. New processes/procedures re PC 1170 

and 3455 

e. Parole Revocation Hearings 

12. HSA Initiatives 

Note: These were reported on in Year 2. 

Departments will update and add new 

materials. 

 

a. Stabilization Housing and Rental 

Subsidy 

b. Rental Subsdiy program 

c. Incarcerated Parents Program 

d. Child Welfare data matching 

e. CalWIN 

f. CAAP Intake to AB 19 clients at 

release 

g. Suspension of benefits when detained 

 

13. Outcomes from the first three years 

a. Compliance and Sanctions 

b. Recidivism 

 

Appendix: Background and Overview of AB 109 

1. Legislative Background 

a. SB 678 

b. AB 109 Overview 

1) PRCS 

2) 1170h 

3) Parole Violators 

 

 

 



 

ACE!ACE!  
The Center for Advancing Correctional ExcellenceThe Center for Advancing Correctional Excellence  

CRIMINOLOGY, LAW & SCRIMINOLOGY, LAW & SOCIETY, GEORGE MASONOCIETY, GEORGE MASON  UNIVERSITYUNIVERSITY   

Solutions For 
Justice  
Professionals  

With goals to safely 

manage the offender 

population, justice 

professionals are 

tasked with respond-

ing to the risk and 

needs of individuals. 

 

The RNR Simulation 

Tool is designed to 

help corrections and 

treatment agencies 

meet demands to be 

responsive to the 

needs and risks of 

individuals in the jus-

tice system. Increasing 

responsivity is needed 

to reduce the risk of 

future offending.  

 

 

 

Decision-support tools 

were funded by the 

Center for Advancing 

Correctional Excel-

lence (ACE!) at 

George Mason Uni-

versity, the Bureau of 

Justice Assistance 

(2009-DG-BX-K026), 

the Substance Abuse 

and Mental Health 

Services Administra-

tion (202171), and 

The Public Welfare 

Foundation. 

The Risk-Need-
Responsivity  
Simulation Tool 

For people involved in the criminal justice 
system, evidence-based practice (EBP) and 
treatments emphasize that assessment and 
programming should target criminal justice, 
criminogenic need, and other behavioral is-
sues.   The notion is that individual outcomes 
can be improved by assessing for a number of 
related and often overlapping dimensions 
such as offending (e.g. criminal history risk), 
needs (e.g. antisocial peers, antisocial cogni-
tions, antisocial values/thinking) and behav-
ioral health factors (e.g. substance use, mental 
health, trauma). This evidence-based practice 
is referred to as the Risk-Need-Responsivity 
(RNR) Model (Andrews and Bonta, 2010; 
Caudy et al., 2013). 

Another component of the EBP model is the 
nature of the programs and interventions of-
fered to individuals. Effective programs must 
be able to address the criminal justice, behav-
ioral health, and criminogenic needs of indi-
viduals to achieve positive results.  

The RNR framework focuses on improving 
outcomes by encouraging the justice system 
to respond to its clients in a manner that is 
likely to yield better outcomes. While effec-
tive programs can reduce recidivism for indi-
vidual offenders, effective systems can reduce 
recidivism for populations of offenders (Bhati 
& Roman, 2010; Caudy et al., 2013). This 
requires individual assessments to pay partic-
ular attention to a broader range of factors 
that directly relate to individuals’ risk for 

reoffending and prioritize these needs for tar-
geted treatment. It also requires practitioners 
to implement programs that target certain 
profiles of offenders with specific needs. The 
RNR framework reinforces the need for juris-
dictions to have a range of effective, well-
implemented programs that target the varying 
needs of the justice-involved population. It is 
important to address gaps in services to de-
velop responsive programs and ultimately, a 
responsive system. 

This web-based decision-support system—the 
RNR Simulation Tool—was developed to 
help jurisdictions and providers implement 
the RNR framework. The system assists jus-
tice and behavioral health agencies 
(government, private, or non-profit) who wish 
to translate EBPs into practice. This approach 
integrates the science around effective screen-
ing, assessment, programs, and treatment 
matching (responsivity) to improve individual 
and system outcomes. To that end, the RNR 
Simulation Tool has three portals:  1) Assess 
a Program; 2) Assess an Individual; and 3) 
Assess Jurisdiction’s Capacity.  

This document provides users with general 
information about each portal and the intend-
ed uses. Please email rnrtool@gmu.edu for 
more specific information or to answer any 
questions about the tool. The RNR Simula-
tion Tool is available online at: http://
www.gmuace.org/tools/  

J a n u a r y  
2 0 1 3  

Page 1 



 

The Assess an Individual portal emphasizes using data from criminal justice and behavioral health screenings and as-
sessments to determine the most effective type of program and controls to reduce individual recidivism. This portal 
can be used with a jurisdiction’s instruments, by itself, or in combination with other tools. Designed for line staff, us-
ers are asked to answer 17 questions about individual offenders’ risk, needs, and lifestyle factors. The system then 
provides a recommendation regarding the type of program that would best fit the individual and lead to the greatest 
recidivism reductions. If certain information is not available, the RNR Simulation Tool will rely upon its underlying 
database of offender risk-need profiles to estimate likely attributes based on the prevalence of each attribute in the na-
tional population. Users can integrate jurisdiction-specific data regarding the prevalence of individual attributes to 
produce customized feedback. This portal also estimates a percent reduction in recidivism that one might expect if the 
offender is matched to the level of programming that is consistent with their unique needs (i.e., a program of best fit).  

Three Easy-to-Use Web Portals 

Page 2 

This 30-minute program assessment tool examines the content, quality, dosage, and other factors of services/

treatments/controls offered for justice-involved individuals. Jurisdiction administrators or program managers simply 

input information about a specific program offered and the tool provides detailed feedback indicating what risk-need 

profiles the program is best suited to meet. The portal also rates the program’s overall quality according to the RNR 

principles and core correctional practice. When applicable, the tool provides recommendations for how program ad-

ministrators can refine the program to better achieve responsivity and improve outcomes. The three main goals of the 

program tool are: 1) to classify programs to facilitate treatment matching, 2) to explore how programs currently target 

the risk level and criminogenic needs of their clients, and 3) to asses programs on their use of evidence-based practic-

es. The tool is intended to help criminal justice agencies better understand the resources available to them and to fos-

ter responsivity at a system level. 

The Assess Jurisdiction’s Capacity portal uses inputted information to assess a jurisdiction’s capacity to be responsive 

to the risk-need profiles of individuals in its jurisdiction. Based on data from 18 questions about the prevalence of risk 

and needs of individuals in the jurisdiction, the portal provides an initial recommendation of the amount and type of 

programming needed to adequately respond to the jurisdiction’s population. When users enter information regarding 

the available programs in a jurisdiction, the portal also identifies system-level gaps in the jurisdiction’s capacity to 

provide responsivity and recommends levels of programming the jurisdiction may need to augment in order to better 

respond to the needs of their population. 

ASSESS AN INDIVIDUAL 

THE RNR PROGRAM TOOL 

ASSESS JURISDICTION’S CAPACITY 



 

Classifying 
Programs to 
Guide  
Responsivity 
and Outcomes 

The RNR Program Tool 
portal uses program-
specific information to cat-
egorize programs into six 
different program groups. 
Each group has a different 
target area that reflects the 
program’s focus to address 
offending behaviors. 

Q: What are some essen-
tial features of effective 
correctional programs? 

A. There are many different 
factors that can impact the 
effectiveness of a program 
including risk, needs, re-
sponsivity, implementation, 
and dosage. Programs with 
good adherence to each of 
these key features tend to 
have better outcomes. The 
key is what criminogenic 
behaviors the program ad-

dresses and the different 
cognitive and behavioral 
tools used to assist individ-
uals in changing these be-
haviors. The RNR Program 
Tool provides users with 
feedback and scores on the 
essential features of pro-
grams to allow users to un-
derstand a program’s 
strengths and areas where it 

can be improved. The tool 
also provides examples of 
high-quality programs to 
guide improvements. Pro-
gram managers can use 
overall program ratings or 
scores on essential features 
to work with justice agen-
cies to maximize exposure 
to effective programs. 

EYE ON IT 

The latest on evi-
dence-based pro-
gramming. 

 

While there is no magic 
program that will work 
for every offender every 
time (Lipsey & Cullen, 
2007), recent meta-
analytic research indi-
cates that certain correc-
tional treatments tend to 
be more effective than 
others. Programs show-
ing some of the largest 
reductions in offending 
include Cognitive-
Behavioral Therapy 
(CBT), Medically-
Assisted Treatment 
(MAT), Drug Courts, and 
Therapeutic Communi-
ties (TCs) (see Caudy et 
al., 2013). 

 

The RNR Simulation 
Tool relies on these types 
of evidence to provide 
feedback to users. The 
RNR Program Tool portal 
allows users to enter in-
formation for each pro-
gram or service they of-
fer, whether it exists as a 
separate program or 
within a justice setting. 
The tool also includes the 
latest in implementation 
knowledge to assist pro-
grams with determining 
the degree to which their 
program adheres to the 
RNR model.  

Page 5 Page 3 

*Hard Drugs are those substances that exhibit a direct link with offending  behavior. 

These substances include amphetamines, opiates, and crack/cocaine. 

RNR Program Group Primary Target Areas 

High-Quality Programs: 

 Use cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) and 
social learning interventions that focus on 
assisting with restructuring prosocial think-
ing;  

 Offer programs that adhere to a core model, 
use an evidence-based treatment curriculum, 
and have staff that are skilled in service de-
livery;  

 Manage dosage and intensity of interven-
tions based on criminal justice risk factors, 
criminogenic needs, and behavioral health 
needs;  

 Identify a primary target for cognitive inter-
ventions (e.g. substance dependence, crimi-
nal thinking);  

 Collaborate with justice agencies to ensure 
that controls are integrated into treatment 
programming;  

 Create an environment where individuals can 
improve by emphasizing motivation to 
change and building commitment to treat-
ment; and 

 Provide feedback to individual participants in 
programs to ensure long-term success.  

Adapted from Smith, Gendreau, & Swartz (2002). 



 

Example of the RNR Program Tool Feedback Report  
for a Reentry Program 

RISK: 100% 
 Program targets moderate- to high-

risk offenders. 
 Program uses a validated risk-needs 

instrument.  
 

NEED: 100% 
 Program targets criminal thinking 

including antisocial thinking, crimi-
nal peers, and self-control. 

 Program uses target-specific assess-
ment criteria or instrument to deter-
mine eligibility. 

 

RESPONSIVITY: 100% 
 Research indicates the primary mo-

dality used in the program is effec-
tive (CBT, specifically the Thinking 
for a Change curriculum).  

 The program uses both rewards and 
sanctions. 

 The program is available for specif-
ic offender populations (e.g. offend-
ers who are 18-30 years old). 

Page 4 

IMPLEMENTATION: 64% 
 Program requires attendance at a 

minimum of 75% of sessions for 
successful completion. 

 Program is administered by either 
clinical staff or a mix of clinical 
and corrections staff. 

 All program staff have at least a 
bachelor’s degree and prior experi-
ence delivering the Thinking for a 
Change curriculum. 

 Program staff regularly communi-
cate with supervision staff about 
participants’ progress. 

 Program has been externally evalu-
ated. 

 Program uses Thinking for a 
Change manual to guide implemen-
tation. 

 Program uses trained supervisors to 
coach staff on questions that arise 
during the course of instruction. 

 Program has an internal team that 
monitors quality assurance. 

To Improve Score: 
 Change program completion crite-

ria to require change in thinking 
errors. 

 Integrate staff who have advanced 
degrees (e.g., MASW, LCSW, 
PhD). 

 Program director can arrange for 
external evaluation of the program. 

 

DOSAGE: 40% 
 Program provides approximately 

180 hours of treatment to partici-
pants. 

 Treatment is spread across 13 to 17 
weeks. 

 Services are provided on a daily 
basis, for approximately 10 to 14 
hours per week.  

 

To Improve Score: 
 Increase dosage to provide 200+ 

hours of direct treatment to partici-
pants. 

 Extend program length to deliver 
services for 26+ weeks. 

 Increase program hours to 15+ 
hours per week or 3+ hours per day. 

 Offer program in phases and in-
clude aftercare. 

 

ADDITIONAL FEATURES: 60% 
 Program includes a number of com-

plementary programing including: 
contingency management, educa-
tional services, psychosocial educa-
tion, alcohol or drug education, 
moral reasoning, relapse preven-
tion, and motivational interviewing.  

 Program is located in a criminal 
justice facility (local jail). 

 Program includes random monthly 
drug testing. 

 

To Improve Score: 
 Increase participation in other pro-

grams to complement the Thinking 
for a Change curriculum. 

Below is a sample feedback report from the RNR Program Tool portal for a jail-based program that pri-
marily targets criminal thinking. The feedback includes a summary of program components and scores 
in each of the six scoring areas as well as suggestions for improvement where applicable.  



 

Finding the Right  
Programs for Justice-
Involved Individuals 

USING RISK AND NEED INFORMATION 

TO IMPROVE RESPONSIVITY AND  

REDUCE OFFENDING. 

THE CASE OF THE 
MODERATE-RISK  
OFFENDER 
 

Moderate-risk offend-
ers may pose a special 
challenge for justice 
professionals. While 
they tend to have 
shorter criminal histo-
ries than higher-risk 
offenders, they may 
also have a number of 
criminogenic needs 
and destabilizing fac-
tors which contribute 
to the risk of reoffend-
ing.  

 

For example, a young 
adult with few prior 
arrests, but who is de-
pendent on heroin, 
may be classified as 
moderate-risk despite 
a clear dependence 
disorder. It is im-
portant to assess crimi-
nogenic needs in addi-
tion to risk to deter-
mine factors linked to 
offending behaviors. 

  

In responding to mod-
erate-risk offenders, 
interventions should 
emphasize  their crimi-
nogenic needs.  Often 
such individuals do 
not need the same lev-
el of supervision con-
trols placed on them. 
However, they may 
still benefit from evi-
dence-based program-
ming to help reduce 
their needs and build 
stabilizers in their 
lives.  

The Assess an Individual portal of the 
RNR Simulation Tool assists users in select-
ing appropriate controls and treatment for 
individuals based on individual risk and 
need factors.  

 

Q: What type of programming would this 
individual benefit from? 

A. The first step in matching offenders to 
appropriate programming groups is to iden-
tify their risk of recidivism and criminogen-
ic needs. Risk information includes criminal 
history, age at first arrest, prior terms of pro-
bation or incarceration, and violations. 
Needs information refers to factors that in-
fluence an individual’s current situation, 
such as substance abuse or dependence, 
mental health, employment, associates, and 
criminal thinking. Often, this information 
can be obtained from a jurisdiction’s vali-
dated risk and need assessment instrument. 
Certain information (e.g. substance use se-
verity and mental health) may require addi-
tional assessment. To determine what pro-
gramming would most benefit an individual, 
agencies should prioritize individuals’ needs 
to ensure that criminogenic needs (those re-
lated to offending behaviors) receive imme-
diate treatment. 

Page 5 

Q: What if the type of program recom-
mended is not available? 

A. The Assess an Individual portal provides 
three recommendations of programming for 
each individual. The “best fit” programming 
recommendation will result in the highest 
recidivism reduction. The tool also provides 
second– and third-best fitting program rec-
ommendations. For each program recom-
mendation made, the model also provides 
estimated reduced recidivism rates based on 
completion of a program. Users should keep 
in mind that the highest recidivism reduc-
tions will result from the best fitting pro-
grams.  

 

Q: Does the tool consider individual 
strengths? 

A. The RNR Simulation Tool assesses indi-
vidual strengths to recognize the positive 
factors in individuals’ lives. Strengths in-
clude education, housing stability, employ-
ment, financial stability, and prosocial sup-
ports. These positive factors act as im-
portant stabilizers to help a person success-
fully complete supervision and treatment, 
and take positive steps in their lives. Re-
viewing the risk and need profile with an 
individual builds their knowledge and un-
derstanding of their own needs and helps 
strengthen commitment to address these fac-
tors. 

 

Review case  
information with offenders to 
build an understanding of risk 

and to reinforce strengths. 



 

Example of the RNR Program Tool Individual Assessment  
A DRUG-ADDICTED 
OFFENDER: 

Jessica is a 39-year-old fe-

male offender on probation 

for possession of cocaine. 

She is a moderate-risk of-

fender with a DSM-IV clas-

sification of dependence on 

cocaine. She does not dis-

play any patterns of crimi-

nal thinking, nor does she 

have any mental illness. 

She has someone she can 

depend on for emotional 

support. She does not have 

a high school diploma, and 

is not employed. She regu-

larly depends on public 

shelters and has many fi-

nancial difficulties. She al-

so has a number of friends 

that are criminally active. 

Her environment does not 

promote a drug- and crime-

free lifestyle.  

Page 6 

Best Fit Program: Group A 
 
Prioritize Treatment to Address Substance Dependence  

Group A programs predominately target drug dependence on hard drugs (e.g., crack/

cocaine, opioids, and amphetamines), but also include interpersonal and social skills 

interventions. These programs target offenders with substance dependence, and offer a 

range of dosage levels across a continuum of care. Staff who implement these programs 

should have advanced degrees and use an evidence-based treatment manual. Program 

settings may include residential drug treatment, therapeutic communities, specialty 

courts, or intensive outpatient treatment.  

PROGRAM GROUP A - SUBSTANCE DEPENDENCE Jessica is a moderate-
risk offender with a 
primary need of sub-
stance dependence. It 
is important to target 
this primary need for 
treatment to elicit the 
largest recidivism re-
duction. 

Estimated Recidivism Rate: 
Three Year Rearrest =  
 

    46% 

System Outputs 

Target Needs 
 
Substance Abuse 
 
Antisocial Peers/Family 
 
Education 
 
Employment 
 
Housing 
 
Financial 
 
Family Support 

Group A 

Group B 

Group C 

The RNR Assess an Individual portal estimates that an individual like Jessica has a 46% chance of being rear-

rested within three years. Although she is only moderate-risk, given her substance dependence the tool recom-

mends that a program in Group A would be the “best fit” for her and result in the greatest reduction in recidi-

vism. As indicated, the system estimates Jessica’s likelihood of being arrested within three years can be re-

duced to 37% if she successfully completes a Group A program. In the event that such a program is not availa-

ble, the system also provides second– and third-best fitting program recommendations. Since Jessica is a fe-

male offender, a Group A program that targets females may provide increased responsivity. 



 

Connor is a 30-year-old 

male who was just released 

from jail. He served a sen-

tence for breaking and en-

tering (general offender). 

He has a long criminal his-

tory (both juvenile and 

adult) and is a high-risk of-

fender with criminal think-

ing patterns. He meets DSM

-IV criteria for dependence 

on marijuana and has a 

mental health condition. He 

says that he has no one he 

can count on for emotional 

or social support. He gradu-

ated from high school, but 

he does not currently have a 

job. He often sleeps at his 

friends’ houses and occa-

sionally will stay at a shel-

ter. He uses his money to 

buy marijuana and often has 

trouble meeting his financial 

obligations. His friends 

are not criminally in-

volved, but his environ-

ment is not supportive of a 

drug- and crime-free life-

style. 

Best Fit Program: Group B 
 
Prioritize Treatment to Address  
Criminal Thinking and Co-Occurring  
Substance Dependence  

Group B programs primarily target criminal thinking/lifestyle by using cognitive re-

structuring techniques, but also include interpersonal and social skills interventions. 

These programs cognitive-behavioral or behavioral based methods and offer a range of 

dosage levels across a continuum of care. Staff who implement the program should 

have advanced degrees in related fields  and use an evidence-based treatment manual. 

Programs in Group B may include cognitive-based criminal thinking curriculums, ther-

apeutic communities, behavioral interventions, and intensive supervision paired with 

treatment to change criminal thinking patterns.  

PROGRAM GROUP B - CRIMINAL THINKING Connor is a high-risk 
offender with a prima-
ry need of criminal 
thinking. He also has 
co-occurring substance 
dependence and men-
tal illness. Treatment 
should be prioritized to 
target criminal think-
ing while also working 
to stabilize his sub-
stance use and mental 
illness.  

The RNR Assess an Individual portal estimates that an individual like Connor has a 29% chance of being re-

convicted within one year. Given his criminal thinking/lifestyle and other risk and need factors the tool recom-

mends that a program in Group B would be the “best fit” for him and result in the greatest recidivism reduc-

tion . As indicated, the system estimates that Connor’s likelihood of recidivism can be reduced to 23% if he 

successfully completes a Group B program. In the event a Group B program is not available, second– and third

-best fitting program recommendations are also provided. 

AN OFFENDER WITH CRIMINAL THINKING: 

 
Estimated Recidivism Rate: 
One Year Reconviction =  

    29% 

System Outputs 

Target Needs 
 
Criminal Thinking/Lifestyle 
 
Substance Abuse 
 
Mental Health 
 
Social Supports/Relationships 
 
Employment 
 
Housing 
 
Financial 
 
Family Support 

CURRENT: 29%   

BEST FIT: 23% Group B 

2ND BEST: 26%   Group C 

3RD BEST: 28%   Group D 

Page 7 



 

Building a Responsive  
System 

CLOSING THE GAP BETWEEN RISK-NEED 

PROFILES AND AVAILABLE SERVICES  

The Assess Jurisdic-

tion’s Capacity portal 

uses population-level data 

to asses a jurisdiction’s 

capacity to provide re-

sponsivity. Based on in-

putted data about the 

prevalence of aggregate 

risk and needs in a juris-

diction, the tool will rec-

ommend the type and 

quantity of services that 

would best match the 

needs of that jurisdiction. 

For maximum responsiv-

ity, we recommend juris-

dictions use this portal in 

conjunction with the RNR 

Program Tool portal. 

  

Q: How can my jurisdic-

tion keep track of what 

programs we have availa-

ble? 

  

A. The RNR Simulation 

Tool offers a unique oppor-

tunity for program adminis-

trators to enter and save in-

formation about the pro-

grams they have available in 

their jurisdiction. Other site 

users can then view the 

available programs, includ-

ing the programs’ intended 

targets (e.g., substance 

abuse, criminal thinking), to 

guide responsivity and ef-

fectively match offenders to 

available programs.  

  

Q: How can the RNR Sim-

ulation Tool help my juris-

diction prepare for chang-

es associated with the Af-

fordable Care Act (ACA)? 

  

A. The RNR Simulation 

Tool will assist justice pro-

fessionals in preparing for 

and responding to the ex-

pected influx in offender 

populations who will re-

quire access to behavioral 

health treatment services 

under the Affordable Care 

Act. The tool enables juris-

dictions to classify their pro-

grams based on offender 

needs and helps determine if 

adequate programming ex-

ists to accommodate the 

offender population. Where 

sufficient programming is 

lacking, the portal provides 

recommendations to fill the 

treatment gap. 

Page 8 

The Assess Jurisdiction’s 

Capacity Portal provides a 

graphical representation of 

the match between a juris-

diction’s actual program 

capacity and the program-

ming capacity recommended 

by the RNR Simulation Tool. 

Substance  
Dependence 

Criminal Thinking/ 
Lifestyle 

Self Improvement 
& Management 

Interpersonal  
Skills 

Life Skills Punishment 
Only 

Example of  

Treatment Gap 

Output for a  

Jurisdiction 



 

Example: Reducing Recidivism through System-Wide Responsivity 

pendence on a criminogen-
ic drug, 32% is dependent 
on marijuana or alcohol, 
38% abuses a non-
criminogenic drug, and 
17% of the population does 
not meet DSM-IV criteria 
for substance use disorder. 
The population is also 
characterized by a number 
of other dynamic needs, 
with 68% of the population 
in need of employment as-
sistance, 54% in need of 
educational services, 2% in 
need of housing assistance, 

and 41% in need of a com-
bination of two or more 
services.  

The RNR Simulation Tool 
performed a gap analysis to 
determine if treatment 
needs are being met by the 
programs in this jurisdic-
tion. This gap analysis re-
vealed that despite the 
availability of program-
ming, a gap exists for ser-
vices which target the most 
severe substance dependen-
cies. At the same time, 

Jurisdiction A serves over 
35,000 justice-involved 
individuals with communi-
ty-based substance abuse 
and mental health treat-
ments. Fifty-five percent of 
the population is high risk, 
26% is moderate risk, and 
19% is low risk.  

The individuals in this ju-
risdiction also have varying 
substance use disorders. 
Thirteen percent of the 
population meets DSM-IV 
criteria for substance de-

there is an excess of pro-
gramming that targets in-
terpersonal skill develop-
ment (Group D).  

Administrators can use this 
information to build the 
capacity of their system to 
provide appropriately tar-
geted treatment to meet the 
needs of their offender 
population. This should 
help reduce offender needs, 
reduce individuals’ risk of 
recidivism, and increase 
public safety. 

Page 9 

Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). The Psychology of Criminal Conduct, (5th ed.). Anderson.  

Caudy, M., Tang, L., Ainsworth, S. A., Lerch, J., & Taxman, F. S. (2013). Reducing recidivism through correctional programming: Using 
meta-analyses to inform the RNR Simulation Tool. In F. S. Taxman & A. Pattavina (Eds.), Simulation Strategies to Reduce Recidi-
vism:  Risk Need Responsivity (RNR) Modeling in the Criminal Justice System. Springer.  

Lipsey, M. W., & Cullen, F. T. (2007). The effectiveness of correctional rehabilitation: A review of systematic reviews. Annual Review of 
Law and Social Science, 3, 297–320.  

Lowenkamp, C. T., Latessa, E. J., & Holsinger, A. M. (2006). The risk principle in action: What have we learned from 13,676 offenders 
and 97 correctional programs? Crime & Delinquency, 52(1), 77 –93.  

Smith, P., Gendreau, P., & Swartz, K. (2009). Validating the principles of effective intervention: A systematic review of the contributions 
of meta-analysis in the field of corrections. Victims & Offenders, 4(2), 148.  

Taxman, F. (2006). Assessment with a flair: Accountability in supervision plans. Fed. Probation, 70, 2. 

Taxman, F. S., & Marlowe, D. (2006). Risk, needs, responsivity: In action or inaction? Crime & Delinquency, 52(1), 3–6.  

REFERENCES 

Jurisdiction A’s gap analysis 

indicates that they are current-

ly lacking adequate program-

ming in Groups A, B, and C, 

and have an excess of pro-

gramming in Groups D, E, and 

F. The RNR Simulation Tool 

not only identifies this gap in 

service provision, but also pro-

vides recommendations of pro-

grams to help fill the gap and 

increase the jurisdiction’s ca-

pacity for responsivity. 

3% 

13% 
11% 

31% 
29% 

14% 

Substance  
Dependence 

Criminal Thinking/ 
Lifestyle 

Self Improvement 
& Management 

Interpersonal  
Skills 

Life Skills Punishment 
Only 

Jurisdiction A 

Gap Analysis 



 

CJ-TRAK was developed by the Center for Advancing Correctional Excellence (ACE!) (www.gmuace.org) at George Ma-

son University. The RNR Simulation Tool involved the contributions from the Center for Advancing Correctional Excel-

lence (ACE!), the University of Massachusetts, Lowell; Maxarth, LLC; and Slonky, LLC under grant BJA 2010 DG-BX-

K026, with additional funding from SAMHSA (SAM6975 ), the Public Welfare Foundation, and ACE!. 

Center for Advancing Correctional Excellence (ACE!) 
Department of Criminology, Law & Society 
George Mason University 
10519 Braddock Rd., Suite. 1900 
Fairfax, VA 22032 
703.993.4859 phone   
703.993.6020 fax 
rnrtool@gmu.edu 

http://www.gmuace.org/tools/ 

The RNR Simulation Tool is part of a larger suite of web-based translational tools for practitioners. The CJ-TRAK 
Knowledge Translation Tool Suite is also home to SOARING 2, an eLearning software package to train community cor-
rections officers in evidence-based practices, and EMTAP, a synopsis of research findings in corrections and related fields. 
For more information on these or other ACE! projects, please contact ace@gmu.edu. 

http://gmuace.org/
http://www.uml.edu/
http://maxarth.com/
http://www.slonky.com/


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Center on Juvenile and Criminal Justice 
in partnership with 

 

San Francisco Adult Probation 
invite you to the 

 
 

Cameo House  
Opening Reception   

November 14, 2014 from 11 am to 2 pm  
Remarks at noon 

 

 
 

424 Guerrero St. 
San Francisco, CA 94110 

 

 
We welcome you to stop by to learn more about Cameo House—

an alternative sentencing program for pregnant and parenting 

women—and to meet the families we are currently serving. 
 
 
 

 


	Agenda CCP Meeting 2014 11 06 v2
	Draft CCP Minutes 9 11 14
	2014 Legislative Review
	2014 legislation
	Recidivism Definition Letter, AG Harris
	DRAFT - BSCC Definition of Recidivism
	cpoc definition of recidivism may 2012
	Realignment Implementation Plan 2014 11-4-14
	Realignment Implementation Plan 2014 Outline
	RNR_Practitioner_Pub_FINAL_2 12 13(1)
	Cameo House Opening Reception Flyer 11 14 14

